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Cannon Hill Presbyterian Church 
(former)

Key details

Addresses At 4 Molloy Road, Cannon Hill, Queensland 4170

Type of place Church, Institutional / group housing

Period Interwar 1919-1939

Style Queenslander

Lot plan L1_SP149144

Key dates Local Heritage Place Since — 1 December 2017
Date of Citation — June 2011

Construction Walls: Timber
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People/associations George Trotter (Architect)

Criterion for listing (A) Historical; (D) Representative; (H) Historical association

The Cannon Hill Presbyterian Church (former) was built in 1930 and designed by respected Brisbane architect 
George Trotter. The timber church was the first to be built under the Presbyterian Church extension movement, 
established to provide assistance to fledgling Presbyterian congregations with funding from philanthropist W.R. 
Black. The timber church has been converted into a house, but still retains many of the original church features, 
both exterior and interior.

History 

In the late nineteenth century the suburb of Cannon Hill was a rural outpost, with large farms and limited 
transportation into and out of the area. With the coming of the railway line to Cleveland in 1889, Cannon Hill 
became more accessible and suburban development escalated with increased land subdivision and sale. 
However, it was after 1913 that Cannon Hill’s development intensified due to the construction of the Swift 
Company Meatworks beside the river. Many of the employees moved to Cannon Hill and as a result a small 
village community developed. By 1915 the Cannon Hill State School had been built, a reflection of the area’s 
population increase. By the interwar period Cannon Hill had a cluster of stores and a Post Office as well as 
several churches.

In May 1929 the Presbyterian Church of Queensland purchased one rood and twenty four perches of land in 
Cannon Hill. Prior to this the Cannon Hill Presbyterian congregation had held their first service in the Cannon Hill 
School of Arts on Wynnum Road in February 1929.  This proved to be less than ideal, so in September a large 
temporary marquee was erected on the church property for services until a permanent church could be built – at 
this stage, however, it looked as though it would take some time to raise the money needed.

The Cannon Hill Presbyterian congregation were elated when Mr. W. R. Black donated a large sum of money 
toward the construction of a new church. The £200 donation was part of a philanthropic scheme by W. R. Black 
to assist in the building of Presbyterian churches in the less developed areas of Brisbane. The Cannon Hill 
Presbyterian Church was the first to be built under this scheme. The Brisbane Courier stated: 

it was explained by the Rev. Norman Millar….convener of the Church Extension Committee, that 
this £200 was merely part of a noble benefaction made by Mr. Black. He said when Mr. Black had 
looked around, and noticed the many outlying districts in which new churches were required, he had 
generously come forward and offered to provide up to £10, 000 for church extension”

1 1

William Robert Black was a Northern Ireland born immigrant to Queensland, arriving in 1880. He worked his way 
up from humble coal delivery in Brisbane to owning his own coal delivery business from 1885, and he soon had 
a fleet of twenty-six vessels transporting coal on the Brisbane and Bremer Rivers. By purchasing large tracts of 
land west of Ipswich, Black established several collieries. He used the very latest technology available in that 
period to extract the maximum amount of coal in a minimum amount of time. Black retired from his lucrative 
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business ventures in 1920. As a devout Presbyterian he began to donate much of his accumulated wealth to the 
church and played a role in the church community. 

With the help of W.R. Black’s donation the construction of the new church was quickly implemented. Brisbane 
architect George Trotter designed the church and on the 10 February 1930 called for Tenders in the Architects 
and Builders’ Journal. The accepted Tender for the construction of the church was H. P. Jorgensen, “The new 
building…will be of simple design constructed of wood…having an area of 50ft. by 25ft. floor space, with the 
usual front entrance porch. Casement windows will be surmounted by Gothic fanlights” (The Brisbane Courier, 
Monday 24 March 1930, p14). On the 22 March 1930 the stump-capping ceremony took place with the Brisbane 
Courier reporting, “The stump-capping ceremony of the new Cannon Hill Presbyterian Church…took place…This 
is the first church built under the scheme of the church extension movement made possible by the generosity of 
Mr W.R. Black” .  The cost of the construction of the building was initially estimated at £672. 
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The official opening of the new Presbyterian Church in Cannon Hill was held on the 17 May 1930. The ceremony 
was performed by Reverend Robert Millar, Moderator of the Presbyterian General Assembly and was attended 
by many local residents. The interior pews were built by the local committee and the pulpit and choir rails were 
donated by another Brisbane Presbyterian parish. The Cannon Hill Presbyterian Church played a continuous 
role in the spiritual lives of its congregation until the church sold the property in 2002. The church has been 
converted into a house but still retains the original exterior and interior features.

Description 

This timber interwar church displays original exterior features including windows, front vestibule and timber 
crucifix. It has a corrugated metal sheeted hipped roof with decorative front gable. The church is clad in timber 
weatherboards. The church has been converted into a house.

Statement of significance 

Relevant assessment criteria

This is a place of local heritage significance and meets one or more of the local heritage criteria under the 
Heritage planning scheme policy of the Brisbane City Plan 2014. It is significant because:

Historical
CRITERION A

The place is important in demonstrating the evolution or pattern of the city's or local area’s history

as the first Presbyterian Church in Cannon Hill it is a reflection of the increased settlement in the area due to the 
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development of industry and improved infrastructure.

Representative
CRITERION D

The place is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a particular class or classes of cultural 
places

as a timber Presbyterian church built in 1930 and designed by respected Brisbane architect George Trotter it 
was the first church in Brisbane built as a result of the church extension movement funded by philanthropist W.R. 
Black.

Historical association
CRITERION H

The place has a special association with the life or work of a particular person, group or organization of 
importance in the city’s or local area’s history

as the first church in Brisbane built under the church extension movement it is associated with the generosity of 
philanthropist W.R. Black.
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Note: This citation has been prepared on the basis of evidence available at the time including an external 
examination of the building. The statement of significance is a summary of the most culturally important aspects 
of the property based on the available evidence, and may be re-assessed if further information becomes 
available. The purpose of this citation is to provide an informed evaluation for heritage registration and 
information. This does not negate the necessity for a thorough conservation study by a qualified practitioner, 
before any action is taken which may affect its heritage significance.

Citation prepared by — Brisbane City Council (page revised September 2020)
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